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Deposit Protection
and Regulatory
Excellence

CUDGC.SK.CA

MANDATE
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (the Corporation) is the deposit guarantor for Saskatchewan credit
unions, and the primary regulator for credit unions and Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan (SaskCentral),
together, Provincially Regulated Financial Institutions or “PRFIs”, as directed in provincial legislation – The Credit
Union Act, 1998 (the CU Act) and The Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan Act, 2016 (the CUCS Act). The
Corporation instills confidence in the province’s credit union system with a mandate of:
guaranteeing the repayment of deposits in Saskatchewan credit unions;
establishing regulatory standards and ensuring PRFIs are performing to those standards;
promoting responsible governance by PRFIs, and contributing to the strength and stability of the credit union system;
directing PRFIs to take remedial action on material deficiencies, and any issue that may put depositors’
funds at risk; and,
• maintaining and managing a guarantee fund in a sound and prudent manner.
•
•
•
•

VISION
To instill public confidence in the Saskatchewan credit union system.

VALUES
Values guide individual and organizational behaviour. The Corporation’s values are reflected in its Code of Conduct
which provides a common frame of reference for staff, management and the board in fulfilling the Corporation’s
mandate and strategic focus.
Co-operation: As part of the co-operative financial services system, we respect co-operative principles and
support credit unions and SaskCentral in enhancing their strength and development by working together.
Honesty and Integrity: We perform our duties conscientiously with the highest level of honesty and professional
integrity.
Fairness: We approach issues and decisions with common sense, sound judgment, fairness and consistency.
Responsible Regulation: We act to protect the rights and interests of Saskatchewan depositors. We strike an
appropriate regulatory balance that effectively protects depositors without unduly impairing a credit union’s ability to
compete in the market.
Leadership: We use our knowledge of the credit union system and the financial services industry to anticipate future
trends and proactively respond to our environment. We demonstrate leadership provincially and nationally by
advocating positive change that contributes to the strength and stability of PRFIs.
Teamwork and Respect: We work as a team to achieve goals and progress towards our common vision. We
recognize that people are the key to success. We consistently treat people with dignity, respect,
fairness and the highest standards of ethics. We demonstrate co-operation when working with others, encouraging
questions that generate innovative ideas and creative solutions.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION
To ensure the effective regulation of the Saskatchewan credit union system by continuing to adhere to national and
international best practices. To promote and lead discussions with our stakeholders regarding emerging issues and
the changing environment. The Corporation will continue to be flexible and adaptive.
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REPORT FROM THE CHAIR
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present the 2019 Annual Report for Credit
Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation of Saskatchewan (the Corporation). As board members
we strive to provide oversight for an organization that demonstrates the values of co-operation,
honesty, integrity, fairness, responsible regulation, leadership, teamwork and respect.
The Corporation’s purpose remains to instill public confidence in the Saskatchewan credit union
system. We provide an unlimited guarantee for Saskatchewan credit union deposits and
promote responsible governance by credit unions and SaskCentral, which contributes to the
strength and stability of our provincial system. We remain committed to ensuring the
Corporation has strong governance and business practices that will allow us to continue to
respond in a constantly changing environment.
The Corporation’s annual board strategic planning session was held in April. Our focus in 2019
was to examine the external environment and the risks and opportunities that have potential
effect on the Corporation. The board reviewed scenarios and identified strategies the
Corporation would take to prevent, mitigate or deal with these impacts. Key items identified
were the regulation and engagement with our Provincial Systemically Important Financial
Institutions (P-SIFIs, specifically SaskCentral, Conexus Credit Union and Affinity Credit Union),
as well as expanding our crisis management framework safety nets and backstops.
The Corporation will continue to align with industry best practices, and engage with credit
unions and other stakeholders when considering new or amendments to regulatory
requirements. In 2019, engagement included the provincial government to discuss a potential
Emergency Lending Assistance (ELA) facility with the Bank of Canada.
Saskatchewan’s credit unions continue to demonstrate financial strength and stability with
positive results, despite continued uncertainty in the provincial economy due to challenges in
the energy sector and agricultural industries. In 2019, credit unions had strong levels of
earnings, capital and liquidity, with aggregate deposits in excess of $20 billion.
Annually, the board evaluates its efforts. The output from the evaluation is used as an indicator
of leadership effectiveness and helps to identify opportunities for development or
enhancements to the Corporation’s governance practices. The board will continue to focus on
the need to monitor economic conditions, and to review potential impacts to the Corporation
and the credit union system.
In 2019, the Corporation made significant progress and delivered impressive results. On behalf
of all directors, I want to express my sincere appreciation to all employees for their hard work,
their focus on stakeholder needs and the important contributions they have made in 2019 to
our priorities and core operations.

Daniel Ish, Chair
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REPORT FROM THE CEO
I am pleased to report on another successful year for the Corporation. We continued to focus
on preventive measures to support credit unions as an effective first level of deposit protection.
We focused on meeting our mandate of guaranteeing deposits and providing regulatory
oversight over credit unions and Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan (SaskCentral), together,
Provincially Regulated Financial Institutions (PRFIs) as directed in provincial legislation - the CU
Act and the CUCS Act.
We remain committed to maintaining constructive relationships with our stakeholders and
investing in programs that manage risk to the Deposit Guarantee Fund. Our strategic focus
areas continued to be Deposit Protection and Regulatory Excellence, Prevention, and
Corporate Excellence, with key initiatives identified that supported the achievement of our
strategic goals and objectives. Progress on these key initiatives included responding to
expectations in the broader regulatory environment, continuing to respond to the transition of
SaskCentral to provincial regulatory oversight, and continuing our efforts to enhance our crisis
management framework.
Significant effort occurred around our crisis management framework in 2019, including the
finalization of an amended Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Corporation
and the Registrar. This MOU outlines the roles and responsibilities between the two
organizations as it relates to regulatory oversight of the provincial credit union system. A
bilateral MOU was also completed between British Columbia Financial Services Authority
(BCFSA) and the Corporation to enhance cooperation and information exchange, and to
proactively identify risks related to payments and settlements for credit unions. Additionally, we
continued our Emergency Lending Assistance (ELA) efforts with the Bank of Canada, which
included engagement with the Saskatchewan provincial government.
The credit union system performed very well in 2019, given the provincial economic challenges
that exist. Credit unions achieved an aggregate return on assets (ROA) of 0.54 percent and
have grown capital to record levels. I would like to acknowledge the strong performance of the
credit union system as well as their involvement in consultation related to changing regulatory
expectations.
In 2019, the Corporation invested in people, processes and our systems to build internal
capacity that contributes to corporate excellence. We made significant progress on our
Operational Review initiative to transition support services functions into the Corporation or to
new external providers; accounting, human resources and other functions were successfully
transitioned to the Corporation or to new external providers during 2019. The transition of the
remaining support services is scheduled to be complete in 2020.
The Corporation has experienced significant change over the last couple of years. The
transition of SaskCentral to provincial regulation expanded the Corporation’s regulatory roles,
which resulted in organizational structural impacts. In 2019, we were able to facilitate the
transition and implementation of the majority of these impacts, resulting in new employees and
changes to existing roles and responsibilities. I am extremely happy to report that employee
surveys continue to demonstrate high levels of satisfaction and organizational support for the
Corporation.
2019 was a successful year for the Corporation with significant progress on a number of key
initiatives as well as the ongoing responsibilities related to our regulatory role. I would like to
acknowledge the efforts of all of our staff, your expertise and dedication are why the
Corporation effectively performs our role!

Brent Schellenberg, CEO
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
The Corporation became the first deposit guarantor in Canada in 1953, and since that time has successfully
guaranteed the full repayment of deposits held in Saskatchewan credit unions.
The Corporation demonstrates the strength of its regulatory regime through strong governance practices.
The governance framework below identifies the five main roles in the process and outlines the relationship
between board and management.
ROLE

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITIES

LEADER

• Participates in setting strategic direction and
provides strategic oversight
• Functions independently from management
• Approves corporate objectives and
performance targets
• Approves business plan and policy
• Selects and retains qualified and competent
management

• Leads development of strategic options and
implements strategy
• Presents continuous improvement initiatives
• Supports the board in implementing
governance processes to guide the work of
the board and its committees

• Ensures the effective allocation, use and
protection of all resources, taking the
Corporation’s risks into account

• Develops and implements enterprise risk
management strategies and processes

• Sets the “tone at the top”
• Monitors operating and financial performance
• Ensures compliance with legislation and code
of conduct
• Ensures it receives appropriate information
• Monitors the internal control and management
systems
• Obtains independent verification

• Develops an appropriate control environment
including the governance approach,
organizational structure, management style,
communication style, and policies and
procedures

• Reviews and approves an enterprise risk
management framework that supports the
proactive identification, assessment and
management of significant risks and decision
making
• Understands principal risks to credit unions
and the Corporation, and monitors systems
that are in place to manage those risks

• Leads development and implementation of risk
management policies, processes and
procedures, and recommends risk
management policies for board approval
• Develops risk tolerances in conjunction with
the board and incorporates risk management
into the strategic planning process
• Monitors and assesses risk, and reports to the
board on risks and related results

• Approves policies for communicating
effectively with stakeholders

• Develops appropriate information for
communicating with the board and
stakeholders

SETTING CORPORATE DIRECTION

STEWARD
ENSURING AN EFFECTIVE
CONTROL ENVIRONMENT AND
ALLOCATION OF RESOURCES

OVERSEER
EXERCISING EFFECTIVE CONTROL

RISK MANAGER
ENSURING RISKS TO THE
CORPORATION AND THE SYSTEM
ARE MONITORED AND CONTROLLED

REPORTER
PRESENTING A FAIR AND OBJECTIVE
PICTURE OF THE ORGANIZATION TO
STAKEHOLDERS
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$9.9 million in
patronage allocations
and dividends returned
to Saskatchewan
credit union
members in 2019
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
The board of directors governs the Corporation’s business affairs. The board sets the strategic direction and
ensures the Corporation’s efforts reinforce the strength and stability of Saskatchewan credit unions and
(SaskCentral).
The Credit Union Act, 1998 (the CU Act) requires a selection committee, consisting of an equal number of
individuals selected by each of SaskCentral and the minister, that selects individuals for appointment to the
board. The selection committee appoints individuals who meet the criteria for competency and experience
as established by the board.
The board consists of:
• the Deputy Ministry of Justice or the nominee of the Deputy Minister of Justice,
• the Deputy Minister of Finance or the nominee of the Deputy Ministry of Finance, and
• five individuals appointed by the selection committee.
On December 31, 2019, the Corporation’s board was composed of the following individuals:

Dave Tulloch, MBA, CPA, CMA
Saskatchewan Justice and Attorney General
Dave works for the Ministries of Justice and Attorney General, and Corrections and
Policing as Assistant Deputy Minister responsible to lead Corporate Services. Prior to
joining Justice in 2010, he held senior financial positions in the Ministries of Environment
and Education. Through most of his career, Dave has worked in the financial
management and administrative functions of the provincial government. He holds a
Master of Business Administration degree from the University of Saskatchewan, along
with undergraduate degrees from the University of Regina in Business and Economics.
Dave is a Chartered Professional Accountant. He joined the Corporation’s board as the
Ministry of Justice representative in 2017. Dave also sits on the board of the Financial
and Consumer Affairs Authority.

Rupen Pandya, BA, MA
Saskatchewan Finance
Rupen is the Deputy Minister of Finance and Secretary to Treasury Board. Prior to joining
Finance in October 2017, he served as President and CEO of SaskBuilds, a Treasury
Board Crown Corporation responsible for advising government on infrastructure
priorities and alternative financing solutions. Rupen has held Assistant Deputy Minister
roles with the Ministry of the Economy and the Ministry of Advanced Education,
Employment and Immigration. He has served in the Saskatchewan Public Service for 22
years. He holds a Bachelor of Arts and Master of Arts from the University of Regina. He
joined the Corporation’s board as the Ministry of Finance representative in 2018.
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Don Hansen, BA (Econ.), FCPA, FCA
Selection Committee Appointee
Don is contracted as a consultant with the Law Society of Saskatchewan. He is a
sessional lecturer at the Hill School of Business, University of Regina in Finance and
Audit. From 2014 to 2017, as CEO of WeFit Canada, Don led the development of wind
energy investment and production in Canada. From 2009 to 2014, he held senior
executive positions with Concentra Financial as Chief Investment, Operating, Risk &
Compliance and Financial Officer. During this time he was responsible to provide
investment and financial management; strategic risk and compliance management (post
the 2008 crisis management) and enterprise risk management (ERM) and anti-money
laundering/anti-terrorism financing (AML/ATF) compliance management within the OSFI
regulated environment. Prior to these positions, Don was a partner at MNP and led the
Assurance Services Group; and was the Director of Asset Liability Management at
SaskCentral. He joined the Corporation’s board in 2017. His current term will be ending
on January 15, 2021.

Daniel Ish, OC, QC

Selection Committee Appointee
Daniel has served as professor of law at University of Saskatchewan (U of S) and McGill
University, and was dean of law at the U of S for nine years. He was appointed to
Queen’s Counsel in 1991 and as an Officer of the Order of Canada in 2014. His
extensive international work includes advising on legal reform projects in several
developing countries mostly for the Canadian Co-operative Association. He is a public
member (adjudicator) for the Investment Dealers Association and the Mutual Fund
Dealers Association. Daniel is a Treaty Land Entitlement arbitrator for Saskatchewan and
is a former Chief Adjudicator of the Indian Residential Schools Adjudication Secretariat
(Canada). He currently practices as a labour arbitrator and mediator. He joined the
Corporation’s board in 2010. His current term will be ending on January 15, 2022.

Anne Parker, LL.B, ICD.D.
Selection Committee Appointee
Anne is a seasoned corporate executive and general counsel with a deep breadth of
experience in the regulated financial services industry, corporate governance, risk
management and stakeholder relations. She retired from Greystone Managed
Investments Inc. as Chief Operating Officer and General Counsel. As a dedicated
community volunteer, Anne has served on the boards of numerous not-for-profit
organizations. She currently serves on the boards of Frontier College, Frontier College
Foundation and Women Lawyers Joining Hands. In addition, she is a Counsel member
with the General Insurance Council of Saskatchewan and a member of the
Saskatchewan Real Estate Commission. She joined the Corporation’s board in 2018.
Her current term will be ending on January 15, 2021.
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Greg Wallace
Selection Committee Appointee
Greg has extensive credit union experience in a wide range of roles and responsibilities
including board and management functions. His co-operative background spans more
than 50 years. He has spent the majority of his career in senior and executive
management positions within the Canadian credit union system. He has also consulted
with credit unions in Central America, Asia and Africa. During his 25 years at the
executive level, Greg has served on countless provincial and national credit union
system boards, committees and task forces. He has been a board member of Credit
Union Electronic Transaction Services (CUETS) and Credit Union Payment Services
(CUPS), and participated in the creation of several credit union entities. Greg had a
leadership role in the merger of Co-operative Trust Company of Canada and parts of
SaskCentral forming Concentra Financial. He joined the Corporation’s board in 2017.
His current term will be ending on January 15, 2020.

Bob Watt, FCPA, FCA
Selection Committee Appointee
Bob is an experienced professional accountant with broad-based skills developed
during a forty-year career in public accounting, including 31 years as a partner. He
retired from the Deloitte Regina office in 2010. His public accounting career included
general management roles and client service responsibilities for major private and public
companies in Saskatchewan, including several co-operative financial institutions.
Through this involvement, he has had significant leadership interaction and experience
with client and charitable boards of directors. Since retiring from Deloitte, Bob has
carried on a part-time consulting practice and accepted several board appointments.
He joined the Corporation’s board in 2017. His current term will be ending on January
15, 2020.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
An audit committee oversees the integrity of the Corporation’s financial reporting and controls. Using input
provided by management, the committee regularly reports to the board regarding the Corporation’s:
•
•
•
•
•
•

financial reporting,
internal control systems,
relationship with auditors,
adherence to policy and regulatory requirements,
business continuity and disaster recovery plans, and,
legal and ethical conduct.

The committee ensures the independence of external and internal auditors. It also ensures the Corporation
uses appropriate due diligence in its controls, accountability and financial reporting.
As of December 31, 2019, the following directors were members of the audit committee:
• Bob Watt (Chair)
• Don Hansen
• Anne Parker
• Greg Wallace
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE
The Corporation’s board held five meetings in 2019, including a strategic planning session, while the audit
committee met three times. The charts below outline director attendance at meetings.
BOARD

AUDIT COMMITTEE

ROLE

MEETINGS ATTENDED

NAME

5
5
4
5
3
5
5

Hansen
Ish
Pandya
Parker
Tulloch
Wallace
Watt

MEETINGS ATTENDED
3
3
3
3

Hansen
Parker
Wallace
Watt

BOARD AND COMMITTEE REMUNERATION
Director remuneration is intended to recognize effort and dedication, and to reasonably compensate
directors for their time. The Corporation’s board remuneration policy is fair and consistent with similar
organizations.
Directors claim honorarium and per diem allowances at their discretion. The government directors have
elected not to receive remuneration from the Corporation.
In 2019, the Corporation paid director compensation in the amount of $75,257, which includes honorariums,
per diems and other benefits as outlined below.

NAME

HONORARIUM

PER DIEM

BENEFITS

$7,500
16,000
7,500
7,500
7,500
$46,000

$4,300
7,450
4,800
4,300
6,250
$27,100

$506
0
822
829
0
$2,157

Hansen
Ish
Parker
Wallace
Watt
Total
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
The executive management team provides strategic vision, leadership and direction to the Corporation:

Brent Schellenberg
Chief Executive Officer
Brent has over 35 years of credit union system experience. His work experience
includes corporate finance, investment management, risk management, policy
development, loan portfolio management, sales leadership and information technology.
Brent joined the Corporation in 2006, and led the Risk-Based Supervision team from
2009 until he became the Chief Executive Officer in 2017.

C.A. Hatlelid, CPA, CMA, CFA, FRM
Vice-President, Regulatory Policy and Prevention
C.A. has 26 years of financial industry experience, including risk management,
investment management, treasury, policy development and compliance. C.A. joined the
Corporation in 2003, and has led the Regulatory Policy and Prevention team since 2009.

Cory Stephen, CFA
Vice-President, Risk-Based Supervision
Cory has 16 years of financial industry experience, including risk management,
corporate finance, investment management and treasury. Cory joined the Corporation in
2009, and became responsible for leading the Risk-Based Supervision team in 2017.

Deanna Bergbusch, BComm, MBA
Vice-President, Corporate Operations
Deanna has 12 years of executive leadership experience from the Ministry of Finance
and the Saskatchewan Crown sector. Deanna has worked in planning, project
management, governance, risk management, customer relations, human resources,
marketing, media communications, finance and information technology. Deanna joined
the Corporation in 2019 and leads the Corporate Operations team.
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CODE OF CONDUCT
All directors, executives, employees and contractors must adhere to a Code of Conduct. The code
outlines responsibilities and guides the conduct of professional duties including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

compliance with laws, regulations and proprietary rights,
integrity of corporate records and communication,
privacy and confidentiality of corporate information,
fair dealing with employees, suppliers and service suppliers,
corporate political, social and environmental responsibility,
freedom from workplace harassment, violence and solicitation,
protection and proper use of corporate assets,
reporting of dishonest or suspected dishonest activities, and,
conflicts of interest.

Each year, board and employees of the Corporation acknowledge their understanding of, and
compliance with, the Code of Conduct. The Corporation reports to the board on code compliance
each year.

CREDIT UNION DEPOSIT GUARANTEE CORPORATION
The Corporation is the deposit guarantor for
Saskatchewan credit unions, and the primary
regulator for PRFIs. The Corporation establishes
regulatory requirements through the Standards of
Sound Business Practice (the Standards) for credit
unions, Prudential Standards for SaskCentral, and
regulatory guidelines and directives for PRFIs. These
requirements are an essential component of the
Corporation’s deposit protection strategy.

regulatory requirements. Communication channels
may include corporate publications, meetings, and
other formal and informal communication.
The Corporation monitors an institution’s
implementation of regulatory requirements through
its supervisory review process. When an institution
demonstrates elevated risk to depositors’ funds, the
Corporation will conduct enforcement in a manner
that aligns with its Supervisory Framework.

New regulatory requirements, including the revision
of existing ones, are generally driven by changes to
legislation, and developments in the financial
services industry and regulatory environment. New
requirements may also become necessary due to
issues or developments that necessitate providing
PRFIs with information and/or clarity in the areas of
corporate governance, the control environment,
capital management, and financial and business
practices. These requirements are generally modeled
on industry-based requirements and time frames
such as those established by the Office of the
Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI) in the
federal jurisdiction.

DEPOSIT PROTECTION –
THREE LINES OF DEFENSE

PRFIs and other key stakeholders are provided with
advance notice of the Corporation’s plans to issue

C R E D I T

U N I O N

D E P O S I T

The Corporation’s long-established approach to
protecting depositors is premised on three lines of
defense:
1. Credit unions must follow the Corporation’s
Standards and regulatory guidance. The
Corporation monitors credit unions to ensure they
operate according to the Standards, and can
direct credit unions to take action on any issue
that poses potential risk to depositors’ funds.
2. Credit unions are required to hold sufficient
liquidity and capital to support operations,
including business risks. The capital reserves of
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CREDIT UNION DEPOSIT GUARANTEE CORPORATION
PRUDENTIAL STANDARDS

Saskatchewan credit unions are among the
strongest in Canada.

Pursuant to the CUCS Act, and in consultation with
the Registrar, the Corporation establishes Prudential
Standards for SaskCentral. These standards set
minimum requirements and a framework to
effectively regulate SaskCentral.

3. The Corporation’s Deposit Guarantee Fund (the
Fund) is one of the strongest such funds in the
country and is funded through investment
earnings and an annual assessment paid by
PRFIs.

The objectives of the Prudential Standards are to:

STANDARDS OF SOUND
BUSINESS PRACTICE

• establish principles and minimum requirements for
corporate governance and the control
environment that contribute to sound and prudent
operations, and
• prescribe limits and restrictions, in the context of
sound business practices, to manage and control
exposure to risk.

The Corporation is empowered by the CU Act, to
establish the Standards for Saskatchewan credit
unions. The Standards are approved by the
Corporation’s board of directors and filed with the
Registrar of Credit Unions (the Registrar). The
Standards set minimum requirements and a
framework to effectively regulate credit unions.

SUPERVISION OF PRFIS

The Corporation develops directives and guidance
for credit unions to support the implementation of
the Standards. The level of supervision depends on
the nature, scope, complexity and risk profile of each
credit union.
The objectives of the Standards include:
• establish principles and minimum requirements for
corporate governance and the control
environment that contribute to the sound and
prudent operations of credit unions and the
protection of deposits, and
• prescribe limits and restrictions for credit unions
regarding sound business practices to manage
and control exposure to risk.

In addition to establishing and communicating
requirements, the Corporation:
• monitors performance of PRFIs relative to
requirements,
• interacts with PRFIs whose results do not meet
regulatory or compliance expectations, and,
• intervenes with PRFIs whose performance falls
below requirements.

The Standards emphasize the careful and practical
judgment that would be exercised by a reasonable
person in the financial services industry, having
regard to:
• the objectives of the credit union,
• all risks to which the credit union is exposed,
• the amount and nature of the credit union’s
liquidity and capital, and
• the regulatory compliance obligations of the
credit union.
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LEGISLATIVE AND GOVERNANCE MODEL
Provincial legislation provides the overall framework
for the regulation of PRFIs, and includes:
• The Credit Union Act, 1998 (the CU Act),
• The Credit Union Regulations, 1999 (the
Regulations),
• The Credit Union Insurance Business
Regulations, and,
• The Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan Act,
2016 (the CUCS Act).

C R E D I T
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PRFIs must comply with the legal requirements and
obligations established in the governing legislation, as
well as other relevant provincial and federal legislation.
PRFIs must also comply with regulatory requirements
established by the Corporation, as well as the articles,
bylaws and policies set by PRFIs.
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REGULATORY ROLES

accepting registrations and statutory filings of PRFIs,
and issuing formal approvals of Prudential
Standards. In overseeing and ensuring appropriate
regulation of PRFIs, the Registrar’s primary focus is
consumer protection and the public interest. The
Registrar has the overarching responsibility of
ensuring a safe and sound credit union system in
Saskatchewan. The Registrar may delegate powers
and authority to the Corporation. The Registrar may
also issue and enforce directives to the Corporation.

PRFIs are regulated through a shared responsibility.
Saskatchewan Legislative Assembly establishes
public policy and enacts legislation for the
Saskatchewan credit union system. Through the
legislation, the provincial government prescribes
responsibilities for both the Corporation and the
Registrar.
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation is
the primary regulator of PRFIs. It leads the
development, monitoring and enforcement of
regulatory requirements for PRFIs. The Corporation
consults with the Registrar in developing regulatory
requirements for PRFIs, such as the Standards for
credit unions, Prudential Standards for SaskCentral,
and regulatory guidelines and directives for PRFIs.
The Corporation’s primary focus is on deposit
protection and the solvency of PRFIs. It also
manages the Fund. The Corporation is accountable
to the Registrar.

Saskatchewan Credit Unions
are member-owned financial co-operatives,
democratically controlled by their members and
operated for the purpose of providing financial
services to their members. Financial products and
services may be provided to non-members if
authorized by the credit union’s articles.
Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan
(SaskCentral) is the statutory liquidity manager for
the Saskatchewan credit union system. In this role, it
ensures credit unions hold liquidity at SaskCentral to
enable them to participate in the national payments
system, including clearing and settlement programs.
SaskCentral is also a trade association for credit
unions and provides them with a wide range of
products and services.

The Registrar of Credit Unions oversees and
monitors the Corporation to ensure it is fulfilling its
regulatory role. The Registrar has the ultimate
responsibility and authority for the regulation of
PRFIs, and is responsible for approving and

SASKATCHEWAN CREDIT UNION SYSTEM
Saskatchewan credit unions are independent
financial service co-operatives that are owned and
controlled by the members they serve. They formed
during the 1930s as a response to the difficult social
and economic issues at that time. They have since
evolved to become full-service financial institutions
and rank among the leaders in the country for overall
customer service excellence.
An elected board of directors governs each credit
union, sets strategic direction, and oversees the
work of a management team that is responsible for
the daily operations. SaskCentral is the trade
association for credit unions and facilitates the
establishment of credit union policy, develops
programs, offers services that assist credit unions in
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meeting their regulatory requirements, and provides
programs to assist in managing their image.
Although Saskatchewan credit unions have grown to
meet changing needs, they maintain a strong
commitment to co-operative principles and to those
they serve. Credit unions continue to share their
success with their members and communities, and
every year they commit millions of dollars and
countless volunteer hours to causes, organizations
and events. Credit unions continued to reward
members in 2019 by returning $9.9 million in
patronage allocations and dividends.
Credit unions are established under provincial
legislation and are regulated by the Corporation.
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They must comply with the Corporation’s Standards
of Sound Business Practice, the bylaws and policies
established by each credit union, and relevant
provincial and federal legislation.
Pursuant to the CUCS Act, the Corporation has
supervisory and regulatory powers and
responsibilities regarding SaskCentral. The Registrar
provides oversight of the Corporation.
Canadian credit unions have the option to be
federally incorporated and regulated and there is
currently one credit union in the province that is
pursuing that option, Innovation Credit Union.
Despite the pressures of increased complexity and
competitiveness in the financial services sector,

Saskatchewan credit unions remain among the
most stable financial institutions in the country.
Credit unions have maintained their financial integrity
by carefully managing operating expenses and
controlling their balance sheets.
Credit unions continue to face challenges as public
and regulatory expectations continue to evolve.
Credit unions are taking steps to enhance operating
efficiency through managing operating expenses, in
order to respond to demands for expanded service
offerings.
There are 40 credit unions in Saskatchewan as of
December 31, 2019, and they range in asset size
from $21.2 million to nearly $6.5 billion.

SYSTEM PERFORMANCE
RISK PROFILE OF PROVINCIALLY
REGULATED FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
(PRFIS)
The Corporation uses industry best practices to
review and assess the financial condition, safety and
soundness of PRFIs. This approach evaluates
institutions’ exposure to risks, and examines how
they effectively manage and mitigate those risks.
All PRFIs are subject to the Corporation’s regulatory
oversight, which includes ongoing monitoring of
scheduled and requested regulatory reporting
requirements. This process includes quarterly
financial monitoring and reviews of key planning
documents, board meetings, member disclosures,
as well as audit and risk reports. The resulting
composite risk rating is an overall assessment of
safety and soundness for the credit union system.
The Corporation’s model includes four levels of
composite risk: low, moderate, above average, and
high.
In 2019, the Corporation issued 40 supervisory
letters confirming the risk profile and stage rating of
all PRFIs. The Corporation also proactively interacted
with institutions experiencing elevated levels of risk
based on financial performance trends and progress
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in addressing key deficiencies to ensure that the risk
profile of the institution remains low to moderate.
A moderate rating reflects the credit union system’s
resilience to normal adverse business and economic
conditions, supported by stable earnings, and
positive trending levels of capital and liquidity.
Saskatchewan credit unions continue to
demonstrate strength and stability. The Corporation
encourages continued evolution of governance and
risk management including:
• assessing policies and practices against new and
existing regulatory policy (e.g. legislation,
standards and guidelines) and ensuring
compliance;
• ensuring the board has, for all material risk areas,
established prudent risk tolerances that align with
its willingness and ability to bear risk, along with
capital limits and targets that adequately offset
the credit union’s risk profile;
• embedding risk management in strategic planning
and daily decision making; and,
• ensuring oversight functions (i.e. auditcompliance,
risk management and financial analysis) have and
fulfill a mandate that establishes the independence
and authority required to express an opinion and
follow up with management on action taken in
response.
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COMPOSITE RISK

COMPOSITE RISK

BY % OF CREDIT UNIONS
(as of December 31, 2019)

BY % OF SYSTEM ASSETS
(as of December 31, 2019)
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35%
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High

Moderate

Low

RETURN ON AVERAGE ASSETS (%)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Despite sluggish economic conditions,
Saskatchewan credit unions demonstrated resilience
in 2019 with strong income and efficiency, and
capital and liquidity ratios that improved to record
year-end levels. These are all indicators of strength,
stability, good management, and ability to operate in
a highly competitive marketplace while retaining cooperative principles.

(for the year ended December 31)
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PROFITABILITY
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Net income was $130 million in 2019 (2018: $162
million), for a return on average assets of 0.54%
(2018: 0.70%). The decline in income was mainly
because the prior year’s income included a $23
million special dividend from SaskCentral. As well,
the current rate environment pressured interest
revenue, and deposit interest expense increased
relative to last year. Credit unions managed the
impact to net income by controlling operating costs,
and maintaining efficiency at 71.8%, a level slightly
higher than last year (2018: 66.4%).
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Return on Average Assets

GROWTH (%)

(for the year ended December 31)
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Assets increased by 4.0% in 2019 (2018: 6.0%) to
$24.7 billion. The increase in assets was primarily
due to loans which grew by 2.3% (2018: 5.7%) to
$19.6 billion. Loans were mainly funded with
deposits which grew by 3.4% (2018: 6.3%) to $20.9
billion fully guaranteed by the Corporation.
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CAPITAL

LIQUIDITY

With strong earnings and moderate growth, total
eligible capital as a percentage of risk-weighted
assets increased to 14.3% (2018: 13.9%). This was
well above the regulatory requirement of 10.5%,
which includes the regulatory standard of 8%, and
an additional regulatory capital conservation buffer of
2.5%. Effective January 1, 2019, Saskatchewan’s
two largest credit unions were required to hold an
additional capital buffer of 1.0%. At year-end 2019,
the leverage ratio was 8.7% (2018: 8.5%) compared
to the minimum regulatory standard of 5%.

Effective January 1, 2019, the minimum Liquidity
Coverage Ratio (LCR) standard increased from 90%
to 100%. The LCR is based on the level of high
quality liquid assets available for net cash outflows
over 30 days under a prescribed stress scenario. At
year-end, credit unions substantially exceeded the
minimum LCR requirement, with a result of 277.7%
(2018: 212.2%). In addition to the prescribed
scenario, the Corporation and its regulated
institutions conduct stress tests more severe than
the LCR to ensure that the credit union system has
adequate capacity to manage through extreme but
plausible events.

CAPITAL ADEQUACY - RISK-WEIGHTED CAPITAL
(as at December 31)

OTHER FINANCIAL INDICATORS

16
14
12

13.14

13.55

2015

2016

13.74

13.92

14.33

2018

2019

10

Consistent with the current economic environment,
loan delinquencies greater than 90 days increased in
2019, but are very manageable since credit unions
are positioned with strong levels of capital.
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CAPITAL ADEQUACY - LEVERAGE RATIO
(as at December 31)
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* Leverage is based on eligible capital relative to
total assets and certain off-balance sheet items.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
STRATEGIC FOCUS AREAS
The Corporation protects deposits while promoting
the strength and stability of the credit union system.
In 2019, at the annual strategic planning meeting,
the Corporation’s board and executive management
considered a five to seven year planning horizon to
establish strategic focus areas. Information reviewed
included the environment, risks, opportunities, and
the current strategic focus.
As a result of these discussions, the board
established broad areas of focus, including
regulating and engaging with P-SIFIs, backstops for
liquidity crisis and for solvency, and, confirmation of
current strategies, including the transition of
SaskCentral to provincial regulation, the operational
review initiative, regulatory developments, and
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enhancements to the crisis management framework.
The board confirmed that the Corporation will
continue with monitoring environmental trends,
responding to legislative and regulatory
developments, and engaging with stakeholders as
part of the Corporation’s responses to changes in
the environment; in support of the three strategic
focus areas:
• Deposit Protection and Regulatory Excellence,
• Prevention, and,
• Corporate Excellence.
Key initiatives were identified to further progress on
these strategic focus areas and to achieve the
strategic and operating plans which are within the
corporate, regulatory and business environments.
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The Deposit
Guarantee Fund
balance as of
December 31, 2019:

336 million
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION
AND REGULATORY EXCELLENCE
The Corporation strives for excellence in regulation
and deposit protection by employing industry best
practices. It provides responsible regulatory
administration by balancing the need for effective
regulation with the realities of the competitive
marketplace.
The Corporation’s expectations of credit unions
reflect the broader regulatory environment. As the
primary credit union regulator, the Corporation
continues to hold credit unions to standards that are
comparable to federally-regulated institutions in
support of a continued movement towards
prudential regulation, self-determination and selfregulation. Since the Saskatchewan model is based
on regulatory best practice, the Corporation
monitors and responds to new and emerging
developments.

The Corporation champions an effective regulatory
framework by providing leadership beyond provincial
boundaries in order to facilitate positive change and
manage jurisdictional issues. Through strong working
relationships with regulators in other jurisdictions and
the Registrar, the Corporation strives to maintain a
regime of effective regulation with minimal burden to
credit unions.
The Corporation is the primary regulator of
SaskCentral. It leads the development, monitoring
and enforcement of regulatory requirements, and
consults with the Registrar in developing regulatory
requirements, such as Prudential Standards for
SaskCentral.
Financial strength continues to be paramount to the
mandate of the Corporation as we maintain a strong
guarantee fund that reflects best practices in deposit
protection. Investments in preventive programs and
initiatives are key to our ability to control and manage
risk to the Fund.

PERFORMANCE AND MEASURES

Goal: A comprehensive deposit protection regime supported by responsible, balanced regulation
OBJECTIVES

TARGETS & THRESHOLDS

2019 PERFORMANCE

INSTILL CONFIDENCE IN THE SAFETY
AND SECURITY OF SASKATCHEWAN
CREDIT UNIONS

• Credit union depositor confidence is
targeted at 90% with a threshold of
80%

91%

MANAGE RISK TO THE DEPOSIT
GUARANTEE FUND

• Regulatory fairness, as measured
through credit union survey results,
is targeted at 90% with a threshold
of 80%

98%

OBJECTIVES

TARGETS & THRESHOLDS

2019 PERFORMANCE

MEET DEPOSIT PROTECTION FINANCIAL
OBLIGATIONS

• Deposit Guarantee Fund range is
1.4% to 1.6% of consolidated
system deposits with a threshold
of 1.5%.

1.6%

• Overall corporate operational
budgets do not exceed a 5%
negative variance

15% positive variance

PROVIDE FAIR AND
CONSISTENT REGULATION

Goal: Corporate financial strength

DEMONSTRATE FISCAL RESPONSIBILITY
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KEY INITIATIVES
FEDERAL CREDIT UNIONS
In 2019, the Corporation continued to work with the
Registrar on Innovation Credit Union’s application to
exit the provincial jurisdiction and become a federal
credit union. Innovation Credit Union has now
received the necessary approvals from both the
Corporation and the Registrar, thus concluding this
key initiative. Innovation Credit Union continues to
work with federal authorities to receive their
approvals.
Efforts going forward in 2020 will include, under our
government engagement initiative, pursuing
legislative changes for the Deposit Guarantee Fund
in regards to credit unions continuing federally. As
well, the Corporation will undertake the necessary
analysis to determine an appropriate target range for
the Deposit Guarantee Fund that considers the
current environment, including Innovation Credit
Union’s departure from the provincial credit union
system.

GOVERNMENT ENGAGEMENT
In 2019, the Corporation engaged with
Saskatchewan government officials to support the
pursuit of Emergency Lending Assistance (ELA) with
the Bank of Canada.
In 2020, under a broader government and
stakeholder initiative, the Corporation will continue to
engage with government officials to pursue
financing/backstop arrangements in support of crisis
management efforts, as well as a number of
legislative changes to respond to the changing
environment. It is the Corporation’s intention to
engage with its stakeholders, in particular P-SIFIs, to
determine and share potential impacts of strategic
decisions.

REGULATORY POLICY ENHANCEMENTS
The Corporation strives to maintain robust and
current regulatory requirements for PRFIs that are
comparable to their industry counterparts,
particularly at the federal level. In 2019, the
Corporation enhanced its requirements for corporate
governance to align with the most recent updates for
federally regulated financial institutions. Efforts also

targeted developing regulatory guidance for
background checks on directors and senior
management, and regulatory compliance
management. These guidelines are expected to be
finalized in 2020.
Other efforts in 2020 will be focussed on continuing
projects to respond to international and federal
developments around governance practices, along
with requirements for capital and liquidity
management.

CRISIS MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
In 2019, the Corporation continued efforts to
enhance its crisis management framework and
strengthen the deposit protection regime. While
there is no indication of another global financial crisis
in the future, it is prudent to prepare and plan for an
unlikely event. We engaged with our P-SIFI
institutions to support their development of recovery
plans.
The Corporation also signed a bilateral information
sharing agreement with the BC Financial Services
Agency (BCFSA), enabling a protocol for cooperation
and information exchange to proactively identify risks
in payment and settlement networks and coordinate
responses to potential crises.
Efforts to pursue ELA with the Bank of Canada
continued with the Corporation’s second face-toface annual meeting.
In 2020, the Corporation will continue to engage with
the Bank of Canada, and update our crisis
communications plan, and assess recovery plans
completed by P-SIFIs.

PREVENTION
The Corporation’s key risk management strategy is
prevention and investments are made in preventive
services to enhance the ability of PRFIs to operate in
a sound and prudent manner. The Corporation’s
objective is to encourage PRFIs to act proactively,
minimizing the need for the Corporation to react
through intervention or payment of claims on the
Fund. Strong, stable institutions facilitate the
system’s ability to operate effectively and instill
depositor confidence.
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As part of this focus, the Corporation provides
leadership by actively sharing its perspective on the
performance of PRFIs, at both the individual and
system levels, in relation to the broader industry.
These efforts are targeted at boards of PRFIs to
equip them with information to support informed
choices about their future.

PERFORMANCE AND MEASURES
Goal: Credit union strength and stability
OBJECTIVES

TARGETS & THRESHOLDS

2019 PERFORMANCE

INVEST IN PROGRAMS THAT REDUCE
RISK TO THE DEPOSIT GUARANTEE FUND

• Regulatory fairness, as measured
through credit union survey results, is
targeted at 90% with a threshold of
80%

98%

• Regulatory responsiveness to PRFIs
is targeted at 90% with a threshold
of 80%.

98%

• The aggregate composite risk rating
of the credit union system is = to or
< than 2.0 (Mid-Moderate)

1.5%

• Total eligible capital of the system is
to exceed regulatory limits, including
buffers and must be = to or > 10.5%

14.33%

PROMOTE SOUND GOVERNANCE AND
STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT IN CREDIT
UNIONS
FOSTER POSITIVE WORKING
RELATIONSHIPS

KEY INITIATIVES
Regular operational activities have been successful
in keeping this strategic focus area on target to meet
or exceed its goals. Engagement with key
stakeholders will continue.
No key initiatives.

CORPORATE EXCELLENCE
The Corporation strives for excellence in all business
aspects including effective strategic and operational
planning processes. Clear objectives and strategies
guide day-to-day activities. The communications
strategy facilitates openness and ongoing dialogue
with stakeholders, and balances those efforts with
conscientious treatment of confidential information
entrusted to the Corporation.
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The Corporation maintains a sound governance
framework, including policies that guide decisions,
and articulate the authority and accountability of
board, management and staff in achieving corporate
objectives. An enterprise risk management (ERM)
framework fosters sound decision-making through
the identification and assessment of risks to both the
credit union system and the Corporation. Risk
management processes add value to business
strategies, identify preventive programming
opportunities, and support sound management of
the Fund.
The Corporation encourages a constructive work
environment that recognizes the contribution
individuals make to organizational goals, and
promotes teamwork and collaboration. This culture
encourages leadership at all levels and supports
employees to do their best.
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Effective deposit protection requires a skilled,
professional team that understands the environment
and the industry, has the ability to demonstrate
leadership with stakeholders, and can manage
change in complex situations. The Corporation
continues to invest in the development of intellectual
capacity, as the skills, abilities and knowledge of
people are what has made the Corporation
successful in the past and will continue to make
the organization successful into the future.

OBJECTIVES

TARGETS & THRESHOLDS

2019 PERFORMANCE

DEMONSTRATE BEST PRACTICES IN
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGIC
MANAGEMENT

• Board governance self-assessment
results are targeted at 85% with a
threshold of 80%.

89%

FULFILL RESPONSIBILITIES
PROFESSIONALLY AND WITH THE
UTMOST INTEGRITY

• Audit committee governance selfassessment results are targeted at
85% with a threshold of 80%.

89%

FOSTER A CONSTRUCTIVE WORK
ENVIRONMENT

• Organizational Effectiveness Inventory
surveys results indicate a staff
satisfaction rating score of 80% with
a threshold of 75%.

92%

• Organizational Culture Inventory will
reflect an average of constructive
styles > or = to the 50th percentile.

Percentile score of 86%

KEY INITIATIVES
OPERATIONAL REVIEW
In response to the Corporation assuming regulatory
oversight of SaskCentral in 2017, the Corporation
engaged in a multi-year plan to transition operational
support services. In 2019, we successfully
transitioned accounting and reporting systems, as
well as making significant progress with a number of
other services.
We anticipate completing the transition of all services
in 2020, with minimal disruption to our staff or
stakeholders.

SUPERVISORY ACTIVITIES WORKING
PAPER ENHANCEMENTS
To facilitate the automation of components of the
Corporation’s supervisory framework, we completed

technical design for working papers and the related
risk matrix application. Application changes and
implementation are scheduled for completion in
2020.

FINANCIAL MONITORING SYSTEM (FMS)
SUBMISSION
This key initiative established a new method for
institution data submission in support of regulatory
monitoring requirements. The changes were
implemented in 2019, and successfully utilized by all
institutions.

CORPORATE TECHNOLOGY ENHANCEMENTS
The Corporation reviews corporate technology
needs in support of business and regulatory
responsibilities. In 2019, upgrades to various
software and hardware components were
successfully implemented.
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ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT
The ongoing evolution of our enterprise risk
management (ERM) framework continued in 2019.
The Corporation continues to review and implement
items identified in our strategic planning sessions.
This year efforts included:
•
•
•

Summarized ERM reporting
Review of Risk Map
Review of strategic risks

In 2020, efforts will continue to improve the ERM
framework.

OPERATIONAL ACTIVITIES
The Corporation’s operations contain the following
divisions: Regulatory Policy and Prevention, RiskBased Supervision, and Corporate Operations.

REGULATORY POLICY AND PREVENTION
The Regulatory Policy and Prevention division
ensures an effective and responsible framework for
regulating PRFIs by developing regulatory policy,
executing the preventive strategy and overseeing the
Fund. It maintains relevant Standards and develops
supplemental regulatory guidance and directives for
PRFIs.
Staff regularly interact with PRFIs on various issues
to provide leaders with a better understanding of the
Corporation’s regulatory expectations. These efforts
are supported by preventive programming, such as
system meetings and educational sessions.
This division is responsible for managing the Fund,
which includes providing leadership and oversight,
and developing strategy and policies. This division
allocates assets, appoints a portfolio manager and
monitors fund performance. Under the direction of
the board, investments are purchased according to
the priorities of:
•
•
•

safety of principal
sufficient liquidity to meet the Corporation's
cash flow obligations
reasonable return

This division chairs the asset liability committee that
determines the investment strategy, performance
and policy compliance, and reports to the board.
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Staff reviews the Fund’s investment policy and
practices at least once per year and any changes to
Fund policy are approved by the board.

RISK-BASED SUPERVISION
The Risk-Based Supervision division is responsible
for the monitoring, intervention and regulatory
approvals for PRFIs. This ensures both thorough and
effective assessment of PRFIs’ performance, and
protects the Fund by proactively addressing elevated
risk and performance deficiencies.
The Corporation monitors the financial performance
of credit unions and their adherence to regulatory
requirements to ensure the safety of member
deposits. When issues or deficiencies are identified,
the Corporation will work with institutions to ensure
they are resolved in a prudent and timely manner. In
some cases, the Corporation will provide financial
assistance to facilitate their recovery or resolution.
The division assesses PRFIs’ performance and risk
management to ensure they meet regulatory
expectations and operate with effective controls.
Supervisory reviews are supplemented by ongoing
engagement with management and board. The
division reviews quarterly financial reports, annual
budgets and external reports. In some cases the
division may request monthly board reports and midyear forecasts.
This oversight allows staff to develop a composite
risk rating for each PRFI as well as a provincial
aggregate for Saskatchewan credit unions. The
division also assesses requests from PRFIs to
engage in new lines of business, for regulatory policy
exemptions, and to enter into certain types of
transactions.

CORPORATE OPERATIONS
The Corporate Operations division is responsible for
the following functions:
ACCOUnTInG AnD REPORTInG

The team manages accounting and reporting
processes, and the relationship with the accounting
services supplier. The team also manages the
processes for monthly reporting and account
reconciliations, quarterly financial statements and
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budget variance analysis, corporate tax, and annual
external financial statements.
AUDIT AnD COMPLIAnCE

Auditing services provide assurance that the
Corporation’s risk management, governance and
internal control processes operate effectively.
Management works with auditors to identify and
assess risks, which form the basis of internal and
external audit plans. The outcomes of the internal
audit, the year-end compliance process and the
external audit are reported to the audit committee.
The corporate operations team serves as the liaison
with the auditors.

BUSInESS PROCESS SUPPORT AnD
InFORMATIOn TEChnOLOGy

The Business Process Support Services (BPSS)
team develops and maintains the corporate systems
that improve the Corporation’s effectiveness and
efficiency, including information management,
reporting and office management systems.
BPSS manages technology operational strategies,
policies and practices that streamline corporate
business process, support internal and external
stakeholders, and contribute to the Corporation’s
goals and objectives. BPSS also manages
relationships with vendors that support information
systems and technology requirements. The
Corporation and its vendors use industry standard
technology and processes, and follow best practices
in security, privacy and data integration. Business
continuity and disaster recovery plans are regularly
reviewed and updated to ensure recovery from an
unforeseen, significant business disruption.

risk assessment and includes a consolidated risk
map, overviews of each principal risk with a status
summary, mitigation actions and the potential
impact. A mid-year review is also conducted as part
of the monitoring process with adjustments made as
required.

GOVERnAnCE

The decisions, authority and accountability of the
board, management and staff are guided by a
governance framework that includes policies and
practices. Board and audit committee selfassessments identify opportunities for director
development and enhanced governance practices.

hUMAn RESOURCES

Human resource policies and practices, benefits and
compensation are regularly reviewed. Regular
surveys and team building events help develop an
engaged, enthusiastic workforce. The Corporation
supports employees pursuing advanced educational
qualifications, including degree and professional
designations.

PERFORMAnCE MEASUREMEnT, PLAnnInG
AnD BUDGETInG

The Corporation’s board and management identify
key strategic focus areas through the ERM report,
corporate performance measurements and
environmental scans. This annual planning develops
corporate goals, objectives and key initiatives that
are measured and reported at each board meeting.

ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMUnICATIOnS

The team is responsible for branding standards, and
for producing and maintaining communication tools,
such as the website and printed publications.

EnTERPRISE RISk MAnAGEMEnT

Enterprise risk management (ERM) outlines the
Corporation’s principal risks, risk appetite, risk
tolerances and the actions taken to monitor and
manage risks. An annual ERM report describes the

The Corporation is exposed to various risks during
regular business activities and the management and
board determine how much risk is acceptable. ERM
is used to identify, assess and mitigate risks, which
helps form the goals, objectives and strategies that
guide the organization’s strategic and business
plans, and provides direction for its priorities and
resource allocation. The ERM framework outlines the
Corporation’s principal risks, risk appetite and risk
tolerances, and includes actions taken to effectively
manage and monitor risks. Management reviews the
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current environment and updates the risk
assessment twice per year. The board uses the
year-end risk assessment as the basis for strategic
planning every second year.

•

We regulate with an emphasis on preventing the
need for payouts to depositors.

•

We will maintain a guarantee fund at a level
sufficient to instill confidence in credit union
depositors and other stakeholders.

•

We avoid actions that would damage the
Corporation’s or credit union system’s reputation
in the eyes of our stakeholders.

•

We maintain our operations at a level that supports
our mandate. We will spend what is needed, but
only what is needed, to acquire the capacity to
regulate prudently.

ENTERPRISE RISK APPETITE STATEMENTS
The following enterprise risk appetite statements
outline the level of risk the Corporation is willing to
assume:

•

We will only restrict credit union activities by
creating and enforcing regulations and guidelines
that will allow credit unions to take prudent risks
during the course of their business.

Every year the Corporation reviews twenty principal risks that are divided into five categories: Deposit
Guarantee/Solvency, Strategic, Regulatory, Operational, and Financial.
RISK CATEGORY

DEFINITION

DEPOSIT GUARANTEE/
SOLVENCY RISK

• Risks to the strength and stability of Saskatchewan credit
unions arising from a broad range of economic and
environmental factors that may impact depositors’ confidence.
• Risks associated with the overall effectiveness of the board
and management of the organization, including the ability to
develop and execute appropriate business plans and
strategies.

STRATEGIC RISK

• Risks associated with the failure to comply with laws, rules,
regulations, prescribed practices or ethical standards within
which the Corporation is governed.

REGULATORY RISK

• Risks associated with the performance of business functions
or processes within the Corporation. Risks may arise from
deficiencies or breakdowns relative to the control environment,
technology and information systems, human capital or
communication methods.

OPERATIONAL RISK

FINANCIAL RISK

LEGEND
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DIRECTION OF RISK

• Risks associated with the Corporation’s ability to meet financial
obligations and prudently manage its fiscal responsibilities..

Increased
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Unchanged
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2019 RISK ASSESSMENT
The Saskatchewan economy continues to struggle,
including above average delinquencies; despite this,
the 2019 risk assessment demonstrates stability
within our environment, province and credit union
system. In an effort to minimize risk to the Fund
given unfavourable provincial economic trends, the
Corporation’s risk-based supervisory focus for
regulated institutions has appropriately shifted. This
has led to increased focus given to institutions and
business activities of institutions with the most
potential to be impacted (e.g. geographic-based
risk, credit risk). This year the Corporation has seen
no significant movement in any of the risk ratings.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
DEPOSIT GUARANTEE FUND
The Fund began with credit union contributions in
1953, and has grown to be one of the strongest
funds in North America. The Fund is sustained by
investment interest and annual assessments paid by
credit unions, and covers the costs of the
Corporation’s deposit protection and regulatory
responsibilities.
The Corporation offers a full guarantee on deposits
held in Saskatchewan credit unions through a long-

established approach to protecting depositors that
includes three lines of defense:
•

a regulatory framework that ensures credit unions
adhere to the Standards of Sound Business
Practice and regulatory guidance provided by the
Corporation

•

strong levels of capital and liquidity that support
operations including business risks. The reserves
of Saskatchewan credit unions are among the
strongest in Canada.

•

the Fund is the last line of defense

The board-approved target range for the Fund is
1.4% to 1.6% of total deposits held by
Saskatchewan credit unions, plus the amount of any
deficiencies in credit unions’ regulatory capital. The
strategic intent of the target range is to instill
confidence, accommodate all anticipated risks to the
Fund during normal business cycles, and provide
protection during difficult periods.
At December 31, 2019, the balance of the Fund was
$336.0 million (2018: $319.5 million), representing
1.6% of total credit union deposits (2018: 1.58%).
The fund is at the top of the Corporation’s target
range.

GUARANTEE FUND BALANCE

GUARANTEE FUND BALANCE

IN $ MILLIONS
(as of December 31)

% OF TOTAL CREDIT UNION DEPOSITS PLUS CAPITAL DEFICIENCIES
(as of December 31)

2019

336.0

2018

319.5

2017

304.8

2016
2015

298.1
282.3

1.7
1.6
1.5

1.59

1.62

1.60

2016

2017

1.58

1.60

1.4
1.3

2015

2018

2019

Guarantee Fund Balance
Top of target range
Bottom of target range
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The assessment charged to credit unions in 2019 was 0.08%, which was consistent with assessments in
previous years.
The Fund also generates revenue due to its investments. At December 31, 2019, the overall yield was
2.03% (2018: 1.95%). The increase from last year is reflective of the improvements in interest rates and
returns offered on high quality, liquid and low risk investments.

INCOME AND ASSESSMENTS
IN THOUSANDS ($)

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Credit Union assessments

15,306

16,002

14,741

15,242

16,203

SaskCentral assessment

–

–

66

80

95

Interest from investments

5,890

5,338

5,194

5,636

6,517

–

–

–

–

–

21,196

21,340

20,001

20,958

22,815

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

20

–

7,250

200

–

–

–

300

300

300

Operations

5,520

5,600

5,799

5,760

6,004

Total

5,540

5,600

13,349

6,260

6,304

Interest from unclaimed balances
Total

OPERATING EXPENSES
IN THOUSANDS ($)
Financial assistance
Registrar’s fees

YIELD ON INVESTMENTS (%)
(as of December 31)

3

2

1

0
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2015

2.03

1.95

1.94
1.72

1.72

2016

2017
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2019
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91%
Credit Union

Depositor
confidence.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING
The accompanying financial statements were prepared by management of the Corporation who is
responsible for preparing and ensuring the integrity, reliability and completeness of the information presented.
This responsibility includes the selection of appropriate accounting policies and making objective judgements
and estimates in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
In discharging this responsibility for the integrity, reliability and completeness of the financial statements,
management designs and maintains the necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, proper records maintained and assets
safeguarded.
The audit committee, on behalf of the board of directors of the Corporation, oversees management’s
responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control systems. The board of directors and the audit
committee are composed entirely of directors who are neither management nor employees of the
Corporation. The audit committee reviews the financial statements prior to recommending approval to the
board. Other responsibilities of the audit committee include meeting regularly with management, internal
audit and the Corporation’s external auditors.
The audit committee recommends the appointment of the external auditor to the board, to perform an
independent audit of the financial statements and provide an opinion thereon; their report is presented
separately.

Brent Schellenberg
Chief Executive Officer

Deanna Bergbusch
Vice-President, Corporate Operations

March 6, 2020
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

2019 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at December 31 (in thousands)

Statement of Financial Position

Assets
Cash
Investments, net of impairment [note 4, 9, 12 and 14]
Right-of-use assets [note 5]
Other assets [note 6]

Liabilities
Accounts payable [note 7]
Income tax payable [note 8]
Lease liabilities [note 5]

Fund balance
Deposit Guarantee Fund [note 13]

2019
$

2018
$

1,830
336,558
128
40
337,556

1,135
319,485
101
320,721

1,380
28
133
1,541

1,177
1,177

336,015
337,556

319,544
320,721

See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

Director
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Director
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

2019 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31 (in thousands)

Statement of Operations, Other Comprehensive Income and Fund Balance
2019
$

2018
$

16,203
95
6,517
22,815

15,242
80
5,636
20,958

300
6,004
6,6,3046,304

200
300
5,760
6,260

16,511

14,698

10
25

(11)
(49)

16,476

14,758

319,544

304,786

(5)
319,539
16,476
336,015

304,786
14,758
319,544

Revenue
Credit union assessment
Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan assessment
Interest from investments
Expenses
Financial assistance
Registrar’s fees
Operational services [note 10]

Income before provision for credit losses and
income taxes
Impairment (recovery) on financial assets [note 4
and 12]
Income tax expense (recovery) [note 8]
Net income and total comprehensive income
Fund balance, beginning of year
Opening fund balance adjustment – IFRS 16
[note 2(e)]
Adjusted fund balance, beginning of year
Net income and total comprehensive income
Fund balance, end of year
See accompanying notes
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

2019 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31 (in thousands)

Statement of Cash Flows
2019
$

2018
$

16,476

14,758

1,688
24
(8,203)
10
25
127

2,293
24
(7,923)
(11)
(49)
-

(5)
(2)
203
7,973
(8)
50
18,358

(20)
161
8,056
115
17,404

Cash flows used in financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities
Cash flows used in financing activities

(119)
(119)

-

Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of investments
Proceeds from redemption of investments
Purchase of equipment
Cash flows used in investing activities

(92,883)
74,342
(3)
(18,544)

(116,217)
99,049
(7)
(17,175)

(305)
1,135
830

229
906
1,135

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income and total comprehensive income
Adjustments for:
Amortization of investment premiums
Depreciation of equipment
Interest from investments
Impairment (recovery) on financial assets
Income tax expense (recovery)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Changes in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Interest received
Interest paid on lease liabilities
Income tax refund
Cash flows from operating activities

Net (decrease) increase in cash
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year
See accompanying notes
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

1. Nature of Operations
Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation (the Corporation) is the deposit guarantor for
Saskatchewan credit unions, and the primary regulator for credit unions and Credit Union
Central of Saskatchewan (SaskCentral), together, Provincially Regulated Financial
Institutions or “PRFIs”, as directed in provincial legislation - The Credit Union Act, 1998 (the
CU Act) and The Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan Act, 2016 (the CUCS Act). The
Corporation instills confidence in the province’s credit union system with a mandate of:
•
•
•
•
•

guaranteeing the repayment of deposits in Saskatchewan credit unions;
establishing regulatory standards and ensuring PRFIs are performing to those standards;
promoting responsible governance by PRFIs, and contributing to the strength and
stability of the credit union system;
directing PRFIs to take remedial action on material deficiencies, and any issue that may
put depositors’ funds at risk; and
maintaining and managing a guarantee fund in a sound and prudent manner.

The Corporation is a body corporate established and continued by Section 442 of the CU
Act. It has existed since July 1, 1952 and commenced operations in 1953. The Corporation
operates within policies and standards established by its board of directors (the board).
Management exercises judgment in establishing financial commitments.
The Corporation is domiciled in Canada. The address of the Corporation’s office is 2055
Albert Street, Regina, Saskatchewan, S4P 3G8.
Prevention is a primary deposit protection strategy for the Corporation. Programs are
sponsored and developed to strengthen the knowledge and skills of credit union decisionmakers. The Corporation employs proactive, risk-based approaches to monitoring
performance of PRFIs to ensure early identification of risks and actions required to protect
deposits.
The Deposit Guarantee Fund (the Fund) is funded through investment earnings, an annual
assessment collected from credit unions and an annual regulatory assessment charged to
SaskCentral. The Corporation has established a fund target range based on credit union
system deposits plus individual credit union capital deficiencies. The annual assessment is
adjusted periodically in relation to the fund target range.
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

2. Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance
a) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with subsection 457(3) of the
CU Act. Section 457 states that, except as otherwise specified in the regulations, the annual
statements must be prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (Canadian GAAP). Canadian GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises is
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Corporation’s financial statements
are prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB).
The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 were authorized for issue by
the board on March 6, 2020.
b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.
c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s
functional currency. All financial information presented in Canadian dollars has been
rounded to the nearest thousand.
d) Use of estimates and judgments
The preparation of the financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results
could differ from those estimates thereby affecting the financial statements. Management
believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that the Corporation’s
financial statements fairly present its financial position and operating results.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in
any future periods affected.
The most significant use of judgments and estimates is discussed in Note 3(d) provision for
financial assistance.

C R E CD RI TE D UI TN I U
ON I O
DN
E P DO ES PI O
T S GI U
T A GR UA AN RT AE NE T CE OE R CP OO RR PA OT RI OA N
T I O
A N N AU NA NL U R
A LE P RO ER PT O 2R 0T 1 29 0 1 9

37

Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

2. Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance (continued)
e) Change in accounting policies
Except for the changes below, the Corporation has consistently applied the accounting
policies as set out in Note 3 to all periods presented in these financial statements.
IFRS 16 Leases
The Corporation adopted IFRS 16 - Leases (IFRS 16) on January 1, 2019. The requirements
of IFRS 16 represent a change from IAS 17 - Leases (IAS 17) from the lessee’s perspective;
the new standard eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance
leases as was required by IAS 17. With the intent of increasing the transparency and
comparability of financial statements by bringing most leases on-balance sheet for lessees,
the new standard requires the Corporation, as lessee, to analyze its contractual obligations
in the form of finance leases as well as operating leases under IAS 17. Except with respect
to lease contracts that meet limited exception criteria, a lessee is required to recognize
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the
underlying asset is of low value. IFRS 16 requires the Corporation, as lessee, to recognize a
lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a right-of-use asset for virtually all lease
contracts, and record it in the statement of financial position. The Corporation has
completed its evaluation of IFRS 16, including a review of each of its lease contracts to
identify, recognize, and measure lease contracts that are scoped in IFRS 16. Details of the
standard application as well as the financial impact to the Corporation, as lessee, are
discussed below.
Identification of leases
To determine whether a contract contains a lease, IFRS 16 requires the assessment to
determine if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration, replacing the criteria in IAS 17 which was
based on bearing of the risks and rewards of the assets under lease contract. Based on the
review of each identified contract and lease, it has been concluded that, of the lease
contracts entered into by the Corporation, two contracts are material and fall within the
scope of IFRS 16. These contracts include the lease agreement for the Corporation’s office
space and parking spaces for its employees.
Recognition of leases and its financial impact
Following the adoption of IFRS 16, lease-related assets and liabilities are recognized in the
statement of financial position, as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, whereas
previously under IAS 17, those leases were classified as operating leases. As a result of
applying IFRS 16, amortization expense of the right-of-use assets and interest expense on
the lease liabilities replace rent expense related to the IAS 17 classified operating leases.
The total operational services expense is not impacted as a result of adopting IFRS 16.

38

C R E D I T

U N I O N

D E P O S I T

G U A R A N T E E

C O R P O R AT I O N

A N N U A L

R E P O R T

2 0 1 9

Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

2. Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance (continued)
e) Change in accounting policies (continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (continued)
The amortization of right-of-use assets offsets the lease liability payment, therefore, there is
no significant impact on the cash flow from operating activities.
Measurement – right-of-use asset
On adoption, the Corporation measured its right-of-use asset at its carrying amount as if
the Standard had been applied since the commencement date, discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
Straight-line amortization method is being used on the right-of-use asset over the
remaining lease period.
Measurement – lease liability
The Corporation recognized a lease liability at the date of initial application for leases
previously classified as an operating lease applying IAS 17. The Corporation measured the
lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee's incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
Transition
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 16 have been applied
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard recognized at the
date of initial application. At January 1, 2019 an adjustment was recorded to the
Corporation’s opening fund balance, and the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were
recognized in the statement of financial position.
The following table provides the impact of the transition to IFRS 16 on the fund balance.
This impact consists of the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
$
Deposit Guarantee Fund
Fund balance, beginning of year (December 31, 2018)
Recognition of right-of-use assets
Recognition of lease liabilities
Opening fund balance adjustment – IFRS 16
Adjusted fund balance, beginning of year (January 1, 2019)

319,544
253
(258)
(5)
319,539
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

3. Significant Accounting Policies
a) Financial instruments
i) Financial assets and financial liabilities
Recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value at
acquisition. Accounts payable are recognized on the date on which they are originated.
Investments are recognized on the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets are classified as measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Financial
liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or FVTPL.
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as FVTPL:
•
•

40

the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount
outstanding.
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
a) Financial instruments (continued)
i) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Business model assessment
Business model assessment involves determining whether financial assets are managed in
order to generate cash flows from the collection of contractual cash flows, from the sale of
financial assets, or both. The Corporation assesses business models at a portfolio level
reflective of how groups of assets are managed together to achieve a particular objective.
For the assessment of business models, the Corporation takes into consideration the factors
such as performance of assets in the portfolio, risks that affect the performance of assets,
management compensation for those managing the assets and the frequency, reason for
sales, and volume of sales in prior periods and expectations about future sales activity.
Cash flow characteristics assessment
The contractual cash flow characteristics assessment involves assessing the contractual
features of an instrument to determine if they give rise to cash flows that are consistent
with a basic lending arrangement. Contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they represent cash flows that are SPPI on the principal amount outstanding.
‘Principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is
defined as consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the
principal amount outstanding for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and
administrative costs), as well as profit margin.
In performing this assessment, the Corporation takes into consideration contractual features
that could change the amount or timing of contractual cash flows, such that the cash flows
are no longer consistent with a basic lending arrangement. If the Corporation identifies any
contractual features that could modify the cash flows of the instrument such that they are
no longer consistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is
classified and measured at FVTPL.
Debt instruments measured at amortized cost
Debt instruments are measured at amortized cost if they are held within a business model
whose objective is to hold for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent SPPI. After initial measurement, debt instruments in this category are carried at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortized cost is calculated taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition, transaction costs and fees that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate.
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
a) Financial instruments (continued)
i) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
Reclassifications
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the
period after the Corporation changes its business model for managing financial assets.
There were no changes to the Corporation’s business model for the year ended December
31, 2019.
ii) Effective interest method
The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortized cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument to:
•
•

The gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
The amortized cost of the financial liability.

Interest from investments presented in the statement of operations, other comprehensive
income and fund balance includes interest on financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost calculated on an effective interest basis.
iii) Cash
Cash consist of cash on hand and on deposit.
iv) Transaction costs
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue
or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. The Corporation recognizes material
transaction costs as part of the carrying amount of all financial instruments.
v) Fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, the Corporation takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis.
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
a) Financial instruments (continued)
v) Fair value (continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of their inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:
•
•
•

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

vi) Financial asset impairment
Impairment of debt instruments measured at amortized cost is calculated using the
expected credit loss approach. The impairment of financial assets is presented in the
statement of financial position as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of
investments.
Expected credit loss impairment model
The Corporation’s impairment on financial assets is an output of a model with a number of
underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies.
The impairment amount reflects an unbiased, probability-weighted outcome which considers
multiple scenarios based on reasonable and supportable forecasts.
The impairment model measures the expected credit losses (ECL) using a three-stage
approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination:
•
•

•

Stage 1 – where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial asset, an amount equal to 12-month ECL is recorded.
Stage 2 – when a financial asset experiences a significant increase in credit risk
subsequent to the origination but is not considered to be in default, an amount equal
to lifetime ECL is recorded.
Stage 3 – when a financial asset is credit-impaired, an amount equal to lifetime ECL
continues to be recorded or the financial asset is written off.
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Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
a) Financial instruments (continued)
vi) Financial asset impairment (continued)
Measurement of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default (PD), loss given default
(LGD) and the exposure at default (EAD). The PD is an estimate of the likelihood that a
financial asset will not be repaid and will go into default. LGD is an estimate of the amount
that may not be recovered in the event of default. The assessment of the PD and LGD is
based on historical data and current market conditions adjusted by reasonable and
supportable information about future economic conditions. EAD is an estimate of the
outstanding amount of credit exposure at the time a default may occur.
Significant increase in credit risk
At each reporting date, the Corporation assesses whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default
occurring over the remaining expected life from the reporting date and the date of initial
recognition. The assessment considers borrower-specific quantitative and qualitative
information with the impact of forward-looking macroeconomic factors.
The Corporation’s assessment of significant increase in credit risk is performed quarterly
based on the following three factors. If any of these factors indicate that a significant
increase in credit risk has occurred since the date it was initially recognized, the instrument
is moved from Stage 1 to Stage 2:
•

•

•

The credit risk of a particular exposure is deemed to have increased significantly since
initial recognition if the credit rating has dropped below investment grade, based on an
external rating agency’s ratings.
The Corporation considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs no later than
when an asset is more than 30 days past due. Days past due are determined by
counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full
payment has not been received. Due dates are determined without considering any
grace period that might be available to the borrower.
Additional qualitative reviews are performed to assess the staging results and make
adjustments, as necessary, to better reflect the positions whose credit risk has increased
significantly.

For the purpose of this assessment, credit risk is based on an instrument’s PD, not the
losses the Corporation expects to incur. The assessment is generally performed at the
instrument level.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
a) Financial instruments (continued)
vi) Financial asset impairment (continued)
For certain instruments with low credit risk as at the reporting date, it is presumed that
credit risk has not increased significantly relative to initial recognition. Credit risk is
considered to be low if the instrument has a low risk of default, and the borrower has the
ability to fulfill their obligations both in the near term and in the longer term, including
periods of adverse changes in the economic or business environment. The Corporation
considers a debt security to have low credit risk when their credit risk rating is equivalent to
the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.
Definition of default
The Corporation considers a financial asset to be in default when:
•
•
•
•

The external rating agencies have assigned a default rating to the investment;
The debt issuer or obligor has not met a legally scheduled payment or has indicated that
it will miss such a payment in the near future;
The borrower is past due more than 90 days on any credit obligation to the Corporation;
or
The borrower has sought or been placed in bankruptcy resulting in the delay or
avoidance of repayment of the amount owing.

Forward looking information
The measurement of ECL and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk
considers information about past events and current conditions as well as reasonable and
supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions. The estimation and
application of forward looking information requires significant judgment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
a) Financial instruments (continued)
vi) Financial asset impairment (continued)
Macroeconomic factors
In its ECL model, the Corporation relies on a broad range of forward looking information as
economic inputs, such as: GDP growth, unemployment rates, central bank interest rates, oil
price per barrel and new housing starts. Predicted relationships between the key indicators
and default and loss rates on various portfolios of financial assets have been developed
based on analyzing historical data.
Multiple forward-looking scenarios
The Corporation determines ECL using multiple probability-weighted forward looking
scenarios. Based on economic forecasts of large Canadian banks, the Corporation
formulates a ‘base case’ scenario of the future direction of relevant economic variables as
well as representative ranges of other possible forecast scenarios. This process involves
developing additional economic scenarios and considering the relevant probabilities of each
outcome. External information includes economic data and forecasts published by the Bank
of Canada, provincial government bodies and large Canadian financial institutions.
The Corporation will typically weight the probability of the ‘base case’ scenario most heavily
as it represents the most likely outcome and is aligned with information used by the
Corporation for other purposes such as planning and budgeting. The other scenarios
represent more optimistic and pessimistic outcomes.
Write-off
The Corporation writes off an impaired financial asset (and the related impairment
allowance), either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. In
subsequent periods, any recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
impairment on financial assets in the statement of operations, other comprehensive income
and fund balance. No financial assets, either partially or in full, were written off during the
year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
b) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured based on the considerations specified in a contract with a customer
and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Corporation recognizes
revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer.
Nature of goods and services
The Corporation earns assessment revenue outside of income from interest on investments.
Assessment revenue is recognized based on the services provided by the Corporation in
accordance with the CU Act and the CUCS Act. The consideration received for providing
these services does not include any significant financing components that are not included
in the transaction price.
Assessment revenue
The Corporation’s principal activity from which it generates revenue is to serve as the
deposit guarantor for Saskatchewan credit unions, and the primary regulator for credit
unions and SaskCentral. The revenue is composed of deposit assessments charged to
Saskatchewan credit unions based on a percent of total credit union deposit balances of the
preceding fiscal year, and a regulatory assessment charged to SaskCentral. The
assessments are charged to credit unions and SaskCentral annually for which payment is
due immediately upon demand. The performance obligations are satisfied over time as
services are provided over time. Accordingly, revenue is recognized monthly. Rebates for
deposit assessment revenue may be recognized when authorized by the board. During the
year, no rebates for deposit assessment revenue were recognized.
c) Interest from investments
Investment interest income is recognized on the accrual basis using the effective interest
method. Purchased premiums and discounts are amortized using the effective interest
method over the term to maturity of the applicable investment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
d) Provision for financial assistance
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal
or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that the outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. The amount, timing and form
of financial assistance that may be required for credit unions are dependent on future
events and outcomes. Outcomes that may require financial assistance are stabilization,
amalgamations, arrangements, liquidations or dissolutions.
The Corporation provides for a provision for financial assistance based on three main
components, as follows:
1. Where the need for financial assistance becomes likely and the amount for specific credit
unions can reasonably be estimated.
2. Where the amount can be reasonably estimated and arises from an indemnity agreement
entered into with credit unions due to outcomes.
3. Where the Corporation has determined there is the potential for financial assistance based
on analysis of the inherent risks in the credit union system.
A contingent liability for financial assistance arises from a liability of sufficient uncertainty
with respect to the probability and amount of the expected outflows such that it does not
qualify for recognition as a provision. Depending on the probability of loss occurring,
contingent liabilities may be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Contingent
liabilities may be established based on potential individual credit union financial assistance
payments and/or an assessment of the inherent risk in the credit union system. Provisions
and contingencies for financial assistance consist of the calculation of potential liabilities and
contingencies to meet the IFRS standards. Calculations include management’s judgment
based on historical information and other factors. Credit union analysis for potential
liabilities includes a review of all credit unions based on key financial and risk information
and provisions related to amalgamations or arrangements and any indemnity agreements.
e) Employee future benefits
The Corporation's employee future benefit program is a defined contribution pension plan. A
defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Corporation
pays fixed contributions to the Co-operative Superannuation Society (CSS) Pension Plan.
The Corporation has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the
plan does not hold sufficient assets to provide pension benefits commensurate with past
services.
The Corporation’s contributions to the defined contribution plan are expensed as incurred.
Pension funds of $207 (2018 - $204) were paid to defined contribution retirement plans
during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
f) Taxation
Current income tax
Income tax expense comprises current taxes and is recognized in the statement of
operations, other comprehensive income and fund balance. Income tax (receivable) payable
is calculated on the basis of the applicable tax law in the respective jurisdiction and is
recognized as a (recovery) expense for the period.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
Corporation’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

4. Investments, Net Of Impairment
The Corporation invests in fixed income securities with priority on safety, liquidity and return,
with repricing dates matching maturity dates for the majority of its investments.
2019

2018

$

$

Term to maturity
0 to 1
year

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

Carrying
Value

Fair
Value

Government of Canada
Yield (1)

43,441

39,222

17,841

100,504

100,517

95,994

95,528

1.56%

1.91%

1.82%

1.74%

Provincial governments
Yield (1)

24,006

68,612

6,620

99,238

2.08%

2.22%

2.44%

2.20%

Category

Municipals
Yield (1)

6,604

8,706

2,054

17,364

1.57%

1.96%

1.76%

1.79%

Concentra Bank
Yield (1)

4,750

-

-

4,750

1.48%

-

-

1.48%

21,009

55,295

14,605

90,909

1.98%

2.22%

2.25%

2.17%

2,000

20,389

-

22,389

2.04%

2.30%

-

2.27%

192,224

41,120

335,154

Chartered banks
Yield (1)
Commercial securities
Yield (1)

101,810

1.71%
99,841

Impairment on financial assets

95,839

2.20%
17,354

14,253

14,133

1.73%
4,750

7,250

7,250

1.45%
91,082

76,509

75,851

2.10%
22,376

28,610

28,381

1.73%
335,920

1,443

Accrued interest

95,685

318,301

316,982

1,213

(39)

(29)

336,558

319,485

represents weighted average effective interest rates based on year-end carrying
valuesarrying values

(1)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

5. Leases
The Corporation has lease contracts for its office and parking spaces. None of the lease
contracts offer options to purchase the asset at the end of the lease term nor contain
variable lease payment terms.
Lease payments recognized in the statement of financial position
Except for short-term leases and leases of low-value underlying assets, the following two
lease contracts fall within the scope of IFRS 16. The two lease contracts are reflected in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

Contract
Office Space Lease Agreement
Parking License Agreement

Identified Asset
Office Space
Parking Spaces

Undiscounted annual
fixed lease payment
$
110
26

Right-of-use assets

Asset
Office Space
Parking Spaces

December
31, 2018
$
-

January 1, 2019
Transition
$
207
46
253

Additions
$
2
2

Depreciation
$
(104)
(23)
(127)

December
31, 2019
$
103
25
128

Lease liabilities
All the leases will expire within 12 months from the current fiscal year end. The Corporation
does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities.
Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

Current

December 31, 2019
$
133
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

5. Leases (continued)
Lease payments not recognized in the statement of financial position
The Corporation has elected not to recognize a lease in the statement of financial position
for leases for which the lease term is 12 months or less or for leases of low-value assets.
The expense relating to lease payments not included in the statement of financial position is
as follows:
Lease payments
expensed in 2019
$
60
60

Short-term leases
Leases of low-value assets

6. Other Assets
2019
$
5
7
22
6
40

Accounts receivable
Income tax receivable (Note 8)
Deferred income tax asset (Note 8)
Prepaid expenses
Equipment

2018
$
50
4
20
27
101

7. Accounts Payable
Accounts payable are generally paid within three months with the exception of unclaimed
balances that are due on demand.
2019
$
685
695
1,380

Accounts payable
Unclaimed balances

2018
$
722
455
1,177

The Corporation is responsible to administer unclaimed balances received from credit unions
pursuant to subsection 71(1) of the CU Act, and subsections 10(1) and 11(1) of The Credit
Union Regulations, 1999. The Corporation’s policy is to retain unclaimed balances in
accounts payable for 25 years following date of receipt by the Corporation, after which time
these balances are recognized into income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

8. Income Taxes
The components of income tax payable (receivable) in the statement of financial position is
as follows:

Current income tax expense (recovery)
Relating to the current year
Deferred income tax recovery
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

2019
$

2018
$

(28

(50)

(4 (7)
(5 21

(4)
(54)

Reconciliation of income tax expense (recovery) included in the statement of operations,
other comprehensive income and fund balance is as follows:

Income tax expense calculated at 11% (2018 – 13%)
Adjustments for the effect of:
Non-taxable income*
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

2019
$
1,815

2018
$
1,912

(1,793)
(1,992)
3
31
25
(49)
* Credit union and SaskCentral assessments and financial assistance are non-taxable transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

9. Lines Of Credit
The Corporation has the following authorized lines of credit available:
2019
$
2,000
14,750
16,750

Operating line of credit
Line of credit for financial assistance

2018
$
2,000
17,250
19,250

The Corporation has a credit facility with a major Schedule 1 Canadian Bank for $12,000
(2018 - $12,000) where the Corporation is required to maintain more than fifty percent of
its current asset management portfolio with the institution, based on most recent market
values. The facility bears interest equal to the lending institution’s floating prime rate minus
0.25% per annum. The lending institution’s current floating prime rate is 3.95% (20183.95%). All amounts under this credit are repayable upon demand and are unsecured as the
Corporation has pledged no assets.
In addition, the Corporation has a credit facility with a major Schedule 1 Canadian bank for
$4,750 (2018 - $7,250). This facility is renewed annually and has an interest rate equal to
the lending institution’s floating prime rate of interest less 0.5%, payable upon demand with
interest payable monthly. The lending institution’s current floating prime rate is 3.95%
(2018 – 3.95%). For this facility, the Corporation has pledged investments with a market
value of $4,750 (2018 - $7,250) and a carrying value of $4,750 (2018 - $7,250) as security
for the credit facility. The market value of pledged assets must be not less than 100% of the
authorized credit as stated in the agreement. The Corporation monitors the pledged assets
on a quarterly basis.

10. Operational Services Expenses
2019
$
150

2018
$
112

3,638

3,786

Technology

492

422

Professional fees

389

441

Travel

134

142

Facilities

102

201

Contract services

566

447

Depreciation

151

24

Corporate governance
Salaries and benefits

Preventive services
Other
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended December 31 (in thousands)

10. Operational Services Expenses (continued)
Salaries and benefits and corporate governance expenses include payments to the board
and executive management. This is further discussed in Note 11.

11. Related Party Transactions
Related parties exist when one party has the ability to directly or indirectly exercise control,
joint control or significant influence over the other or is a member of the key management
personnel of the Corporation. Related party transactions are in the normal course of
operations and are measured at the consideration established and agreed to by the parties.
The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have
been given or received.
Key Management Compensation
Key management personnel (KMP) are those persons having authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Corporation, directly or
indirectly. The Corporation’s KMP are the board and executive management.
The following is compensation of KMP, as included in Note 10.
2019
$

2018
$

7575

79

901

915

75

71

The board and board committees
Per diems, honorariums and other benefits
Executive management
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

976

986

1,051

1,065

12. Nature and Extent of Risks Arising From Financial Instruments
The nature of the Corporation’s holdings of financial instruments exposes the Corporation to
credit, liquidity and market risk.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability or unwillingness to fulfill
its payment obligations. Credit risk may arise from principal and interest amounts on the
Corporation’s investment portfolio.
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12. Nature and Extent of Risks Arising From Financial Instruments
(continued)
Credit risk (continued)
The Corporation manages credit risk through adherence to board-approved policy and
practice for the acquisition of investments. Safety of principal is accomplished by ensuring
that all investments purchased are reasonable and prudent. Investment decisions are made
with due diligence to avoid undue risk of loss while obtaining a reasonable return. The
Corporation has established a listing of eligible investments that meet the above
requirements.
This listing is based on high credit quality ratings from external rating agencies and also
includes unrated Concentra Bank term deposits.
The Corporation monitors investments on a monthly basis. The status of the investment
portfolio in relation to performance targets and limits is reported to the board at each
regular board meeting. An exception to policy will be immediately reported to the chief
executive officer and in writing to the audit committee.
The Corporation’s investment portfolio credit quality ratings are as follows:
Investment Portfolio Rating*
AAA
AA
A
Unrated
Accrued Interest
Impairment on financial assets

2019
Carrying Amount $
103,937
181,133
45,334
4,750
335,154
1,443
(39)

2018
Carrying Amount $
99,418
154,037
57,596
7,250

336,558

319,485

Investments, net of impairment

318,301
1,213
(29)

* per external rating agencies
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12. Nature and Extent of Risks Arising From Financial Instruments
(continued)
Market risk
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors, notably interest
rates. Interest rate risk is the potential adverse impact on income due to changes in interest
rates. The Corporation’s policy is to primarily invest in fixed income securities and to purchase
with the intent to hold to maturity. Accordingly, interest rate risk arises from the re-pricing of
investments as they mature.
The Corporation will not participate in lending of securities or purchasing of investments in
foreign currencies, nor participate in derivative transactions. These policies help to mitigate the
Corporation’s exposure to market risk.
The investment portfolio is monitored by management on a monthly basis to ensure
compliance with the policies, and reported to the board at each regular board meeting.
The fair value of the investment portfolio is subject to fluctuation as a result of normal
market risk. The principal factor influencing the fair value is the prevailing rate of interest.
Applying a present value calculation demonstrates that an increase of 1% in interest rates
will result in a decrease of approximately $5,596 or 1.69% (2018 - $6,213 or 1.96%) in the
fair value of the investment portfolio. Conversely, a decrease of 1% in interest rates will
result in an increase in the fair value of the same amount. Changes to interest rates have
no impact on net income because investments are classified as measured at amortized cost.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the inability to generate or obtain the necessary cash or its
equivalents in a timely manner, at a reasonable price, to meet organizational commitments. In
particular, the risk arises from failure to meet the Corporation’s day-to-day operational needs
or deposit protection obligations.
The Corporation must maintain sufficient liquidity to meet its cash flow obligations. The ability
of the Corporation to meet cash flow obligations is achieved by the structure of investments
and identification of operational requirements. Accordingly, the Corporation’s investment policy
includes liquidity score parameters to help mitigate liquidity risk. The status of the investment
portfolio in relation to these parameters is monitored on a regular basis and reported to the
board at each regular board meeting.
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12. Nature and Extent of Risks Arising From Financial Instruments
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)
The liquidity score is a weighted average rating calculated on the investment portfolio that
reflects probable loss upon immediate liquidation. The rating criteria are described as follows:
•
•
•

•

•

Rating 4 – investments can be sold immediately to any dealer
Rating 3 – investments can be sold quickly (i.e. within two business days), with a pricing
discount that is not anticipated to be significant
Rating 2 – investments can be sold, but there are limited buyers, it may take up to five
business days to execute a sale and the pricing discount is anticipated to be moderate to
significant
Rating 1 – investments can be sold, but there are very limited buyers, it may take a
prolonged period of time to execute a sale and the pricing discount is anticipated to be
severe
Rating 0 – investments are illiquid and unable to be sold

The Corporation’s policy is to maintain a minimum liquidity score of 3.0. At December 31,
2019, the liquidity score is 3.5 (2018 – 3.4).
To further manage liquidity risk, the Corporation has $16,750 (2018 - $19,250) in authorized
lines of credit available (Note 9).

13. Fund Management
The Corporation’s objective when managing the Fund is to establish a fund target range that
instills confidence, comfortably accommodating all anticipated risks to the Fund during normal
business cycles, and provides a cushion in more difficult periods. The current target range for
the Fund is 1.4% to 1.6% of total deposits, plus the amount of any deficiencies in credit
unions’ regulatory capital. At December 31, 2019, the Fund is 1.60% (2018 – 1.58%) of total
deposits and there are no credit union capital deficiencies.
The Corporation is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. Management
monitors the Fund balance on a regular basis. Quarterly financial reporting to the board
includes the Fund status. If at any time the Fund balance is below or in excess of the target,
management will provide the board with a documented plan to bring the Fund back in line with
the policy.
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14. Fair Value Measurement
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value (but
fair value disclosure is required)
The Corporation considers the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities,
other than investments, recognized in the financial statements to approximate their fair
values. Investments are measured at amortized cost and the fair value of investments is
disclosed in Note 4.
Fair Value Hierarchy
Investments
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

2019
$
335,920
-335,920

2018
$
316,982
316,982

The fair values of the financial assets included in the Level 2 category above have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on either quoted
prices obtained from Bloomberg or a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most significant
inputs being the appropriate discount rate for the instrument, which is obtained from
observable data for similar instruments.
There have been no transfers between levels in the hierarchy and no changes to the
valuation methods during the period.
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SASKATCHEWAN CREDIT UNIONS
Regulated credit unions in Saskatchewan as of December 31, 2019
CREDIT UNION NAME
Accent Credit Union
Affinity Credit Union 2013*
Bengough Credit Union
Biggar and District Credit Union
Bruno Savings and Credit Union Limited
Churchbridge Credit Union
COnEXUS Credit Union 2006*
Cornerstone Credit Union Financial Group Limited
Crossroads Credit Union
Cypress Credit Union Limited
Delisle Credit Union Limited
Diamond north Credit Union
Dodsland and District Credit Union Limited
Earl Grey Credit Union Limited
Edam Credit Union Limited
Foam Lake Savings and Credit Union Limited
horizon Credit Union
Innovation Credit Union
kerrobert Credit Union Limited
Lafleche Credit Union Limited
LeRoy Credit Union Limited
Luseland Credit Union Limited
Macklin Credit Union Limited
new Community Credit Union
north Valley Credit Union
Plainsview Credit Union
Prairie Centre Credit Union (2006) Limited
Prairie Pride Credit Union
Radius Credit Union Limited
Raymore Savings and Credit Union Limited
Rockglen-killdeer Credit Union Limited
Sandhills Credit Union Limited
Saskatoon City Employees Credit Union
St. Gregor Credit Union, Limited
Stoughton Credit Union Limited
Synergy Credit Union Ltd.
TCU Financial Group Credit Union
Turtleford Credit Union Limited
Unity Credit Union Limited
Weyburn Credit Union Limited

HEAD OFFICE
Quill Lake
Saskatoon
Bengough
Biggar
Bruno
Churchbridge
Regina
yorkton
Canora
Maple Creek
Delisle
nipawin
Dodsland
Earl Grey
Edam
Foam Lake
Melville
Swift Current
kerrobert
Lafleche
LeRoy
Luseland
Macklin
Saskatoon
Esterhazy
Emerald Park
Rosetown
Alameda
Ogema
Raymore
Rockglen
Leader
Saskatoon
Gregor
Stoughton
Lloydminster
Saskatoon
Turtleford
Unity
Weyburn

* designated as Provincial Systemically Important Financial Institutions (P-SIFIs) along with Credit Union Central of Saskatchewan
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OPERATING PRINCIPLES
Our principles provide direction on how to carry out
the Corporation’s roles and responsibilities. They are
what make us unique. These philosophical insights
have contributed to the Corporation’s notable
success throughout its history and provide guidance
in shaping the Corporation’s future.

EFFECTIVE REGULATION

Responsibility

• We exercise great care and judgment in carrying
out the authority that has been granted to us.
• We are responsible to act when others are either
unwilling or unable to take action on matters
concerning credit union and system solvency and
the safety of deposits.

Accountability

We demonstrate accountability through fiscal
responsibility.

As the primary prudential and solvency regulator, we
support and encourage a successful credit union
system by working with stakeholders to balance
prudential regulation with market forces.

• We pursue economical business solutions to
protect deposits and minimize costs to the PRFIs.
• Our operating methods demonstrate effective and
efficient use of system resources.

We recognize the need for PRFIs to evolve in the
marketplace and we support a strong and
prosperous credit union system by:

Objectivity and Independence

• focusing on the future of the financial services
industry
• striving to implement industry best practices
where it is reasonable to do so
• developing flexible and enabling approaches to
effective and efficient regulation
Our role is to regulate, not to manage. Our actions
demonstrate our preference to prescribe rather than
restrict, and demonstrate our respect for a credit
union’s right to determine its own destiny.
We believe that effective deposit protection is
accomplished through investments in prevention
including:
• analyzing PRFIs’ performance on an ongoing
basis to ensure early identification of potential risks
• communicating our expectations
• sponsoring and promoting programs that
strengthen the knowledge and skills of credit union
decision makers

AUTHORITY, RESPONSIBILITY, ACCOUNTABILITY
Authority

Our actions are free of influence, interest or
relationship that would impair professional judgment
or objectivity.
We act independently and in the best interests of the
Corporation to protect depositors’ funds.
We carry out our responsibilities fairly and
consistently, basing decisions on careful analysis of
facts.

Openness

We communicate openly with all stakeholders.
We respect our stakeholders’ rights to privacy and
confidentiality of information.
We value the opinions and ideas of our stakeholders
and take care to ensure that we consult with them
on matters that affect them.

Collaborative Relationships

Through constructive relationships with our
stakeholders, we create opportunities to enhance
the overall quality and effectiveness of our results.
We believe that the best solutions are arrived at by
working with others to build common understanding
and to identify and achieve common goals.

• We clearly communicate to all stakeholders our
authority to take action to protect deposits. The
Corporation has the authority to act to fulfill its
deposit protection responsibilities in the best
interests of PRFIs.

C R E CD RI TE D UI TN I U
ON I O
DN
E P DO ES PI O
T S GI U
T A GR UA AN RT AE NE T CE OE R CP OO RR PA OT RI OA N
T I O
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A LE P RO ER PT O 2R 0T 1 29 0 1 9
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Report from the Chair

Credit Union Deposit Guarantee Corporation
P.O. Box 3030
2055 Albert Street
Regina, Saskatchewan S4P 3G8
Phone: (306) 566-1286
Fax: (306) 566-1770
Website: www.cudgc.sk.ca
E-mail: cudgcweb@cudgc.sk.ca
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